FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
8/30/2022 2:29 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON 4 8/30/2022
BY ERIN L. LENNON

F [3]

101227-6

No. 82245-4-I

CLERK

# COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MARJORIE CARROLL, Individually and as a Personal Representative of the Estate of LAWRENCE CARROLL, Deceased,

Respondent,

v.

NISSAN MOTOR CO., LTD. and NISSAN NORTH AMERICA, INC.,

Petitioners,

and

THOMAS J. OWENS,

Respondent,

and

AKEBONO BRAKE CORPORATION; HONEYWELL INTERNATIONAL, INC.; and OLYMPIC BRAKE SUPPLY, INC.,

Defendants.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

#### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioners Nissan Motor Co., Ltd. and Nissan North America, Inc. ("Nissan") ask this Court to accept review of Division I's published 61-page opinion.

#### B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Division I filed its published opinion on August 1, 2022.

A copy is in the appendix.

#### C. ISSUES PRESENT FOR REVIEW

Division I's errors meriting review implicate all four provisions of RAP 13.4(b) and fall under four broad categories:

- 1. Division I second-guesses the trial court's findings of fact on misconduct when substantial evidence supported the trial court's detailed findings that both the Estate and its attorneys engaged in sanctionable misconduct. (RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2));
- 2. Division I effectively declares the King County asbestos style orders and Washington court rules to be unconstitutional as beyond the court's rulemaking power because they affect "prelitigation conduct," contrary to this Court's precedent. (RAP 13.4(b)(2), (4));
- 3. Division I finds an abuse of discretion by the trial court for its imposition of discovery sanctions against the Estate and its attorneys, despite their egregious

misconduct and the trial court's careful, detailed explanation of its sanction decision, as mandated by this Court's *Burnet* protocol. (RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (4)).

4. Division I upholds a *de minimis* sanction against a Washington lawyer who failed to supervise *pro hac vice* out-of-state counsel, as he swore he would.

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Division I's statement of the case, op. 3-13, largely glosses over the trial court's 15-page *extensive* findings of fact supported by substantial evidence<sup>1</sup> that the Estate and its attorneys committed egregious discovery violations and severe sanctions were merited under this Court's precedents. CP 898-913. *See* Appendix. Division I should not have reviewed the trial court's findings *de novo*, as it noted in its recent decision in *City of Seattle v. Wiggins*, \_\_ Wn. App. 2d \_\_, \_ P.3d \_\_, 2022 WL 3713683 (2022), chiding a trial court for substituting its fact-finding for the municipal court's in a RALJ review.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Estate did not assign error to many of the findings, app. br. at 1-3, nor did argue many of them in its brief.

The trial court's findings identified three general areas of discovery violations by the Lawrence Carroll Estate ("Estate") and its attorneys.<sup>2</sup> The King County Superior Court's "style orders" for asbestos litigation mandate "lay down" discovery obligations for parties. Nevertheless, the Estate and its lawyers lied about Lawrence Carroll's asbestos exposure, telling the asbestos bankruptcy trusts that he only had take-home asbestos exposure from his father's employment, but claiming Nissan products caused the exposure in the present litigation.<sup>3</sup> The Estate's lawyers arranged for Lawrence's autopsy and Lawrence's wife, Marjorie, signed authorizations for it, but then hid its existence and lied about the autopsy in discovery so that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Emblematic of the disdain of the Estate's lawyers for the rules was the fact that its out-of-state lawyers were not admitted *pro hac vice* until long after the action was commenced (attorney Kim – a year; attorney Karst – 2.5 years). Their local counsel failed to supervise them as he swore to do.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Division I even addresses this issue when the Estate/Counsel did not assign error to the trial court's findings on it. Op. 37-38.

tissue blocks and other materials were destroyed after Lawrence's body was cremated. Despite knowing of that autopsy *throughout* this litigation, the Estate and its attorneys *continued* to hide its existence to Nissan and other defendants in the case. Finally, the Estate and its lawyers engaged in multiple delays in discovery,<sup>4</sup> including failure to provide Social Security records access authorizations to Nissan that impacted Nissan's trial preparation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> As context, the Estate filed this action on April 10, 2018. CP 878 (FF 7). The Estate's lay down discovery was due 60 days later. Nissan was joined in the case on October 9, 2018, CP 880 (FF 13), and contacted the Estate's counsel about discovery on December 21, 2018. CP 118, 419-21. The Estate provided lay down discovery responses on September 28, 2018. RPAS went out of business on April 15, 2019. CP 882 (FF 21). The responses to Nissan's supplemental discovery were due on April 30, 2019. They were provided on June 3, 2019. The Estate's trust claims were not produced until July 12, 2019, CP 880 (FF 13), and Lawrence's Social Security records until May 31, 2019.

These four broad areas of deliberate discovery violations supported the trial court's dismissal of the Estate's complaint, and the entry of monetary sanctions against the Estate/Counsel.<sup>5</sup>

Two particular factual points in Division I's opinion bear specific reference. The trial court found that Nissan located autopsy report on its own in 2019. CP 878-79 (FF 8). That was not true, but, nevertheless, Division I treated that finding as a verity because Nissan did not assign error to it in its brief. Op. 4 n.3, 49. There is no authority for the proposition that Nissan had to assign error to a finding *supporting* a decision upon which it was not aggrieved. RAP 3.1. To require Nissan to file a crossappeal to correct a factual error in a finding in such a setting is nonsensical.

Division I also makes repeated reference to Nissan's counsel's contact with the Estate's local counsel, Thomas

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Respondents did not argue that the trial court's financial sanctions were erroneous, *conceding* their propriety. Division I affirmed those sanctions. Op. 13 n.13. The Estate/Counsel still have not paid them.

Owens, on an unmonitored email address. Op. 7-8, 26, 33. But as that court itself acknowledges, Owens *responded* to that contact, despite being made on that allegedly inactive account, op. 7-8, evidencing the fact that he actually received the December 21, 2018 tissue preservation letter, CP 419-20, sent to that account, and it ignores the *repeated* calls to the Estate's counsel as to late discovery responses. CP 111-12.

## E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED<sup>6</sup>

In its 61-page published opinion, Division I substitutes its own fact-finding on discovery misconduct for that of the trial court, and finds an abuse of discretion by the trial court on sanctions where there was none. The opinion even imposes unsupported restrictions on court rulemaking authority. Division I's published opinion will only invite parties and their counsel to play games in discovery.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Division I does not address the trial court's determination that the Estate/Counsel violated RCW 7.21.010. CP 910 (CL 7).

### (1) <u>Division I's Opinion Conflicts with This Court's</u> <u>Discovery Jurisprudence</u>

Division I's published opinion merits review because it contradicts this Court's discovery decisions. RAP 13.4(b)(1).<sup>7</sup> Division I's opinion condones the egregious discovery misconduct of the Estate and its counsel, even going so far as to *repeatedly* blame Nissan, the victim of such misconduct, for insisting on proper service under the Hague Convention, a jurisdictional requirement.<sup>8</sup> Op. 7, 18, 28 n.22, 33, 34. In so doing, Division I lost sight of this Court's core principles on discovery.

First, this Court has long eschewed "gamesmanship" and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> While these cases largely involve discovery abuses on the defense side, Washington's law on discovery, whether based on statute, court rule, or case law, applies with equal vigor to the plaintiff side.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Broad v. Mannesmann Anlagenbau, A.G., 141 Wn.2d 670, 680, 10 P.3d 371 (2000). That Convention's process preempts all inconsistent state law service methods. *Kim v. Lakeside Adult Family Home*, 185 Wn.2d 532, 555, 374 P.3d 121 (2016).

trials "by ambush" in civil litigation<sup>9</sup> in Washington's constitutionally-based discovery. *Lowy v. Peacehealth*, 174 Wn.2d 769, 776, 777, 280 P.3d 1078 (2012). Parties must engage in discovery consistently with the letter, spirit, and purpose of the discovery rules. *Wash. State Physicians Ins. Exchange & Ass'n v. Fisons Corp.*, 122 Wn.2d 299, 342, 858 P.2d 1054 (1993). The trial court recognized this standard. CP 888 (CL 8).

When a party engages in discovery violations, *Magaňa v. Hyundai Motor America*, 167 Wn.2d 570, 584, 220 P.3d 191 (2009), <sup>10</sup> a court may impose sanctions under CR 26(g), CR

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> *In re Firestorm 1991*, 129 Wn.2d 130, 150-51, 916 P.2d 411 (1996) (Talmadge, J. concurring, listing cases).

Division I lost sight of the fact that a party's duty to accurately respond to discovery is also *continuing* in nature. It is not frozen in time at the point the discovery requests were first issued. *Detwiler v. Gall Landau & Young Constr. Co.*, 42 Wn. App. 567, 572-73, 712 P.2d 316 (1986); *M/V La Conte, Inc. v. Leisure*, 55 Wn. App. 396, 401-02, 777 P.2d 1061 (1989); *Gould v. N. Kitsap Business Park Management LLC*, 192 Wn. App. 1021, 2016 WL 236455 (2016) at \*6. *See also, Angelo v. Kindinger*, 21 Wn. App. 2d 1046, 2022 WL 1008314 (2022)

37(b), or its inherent authority. *See generally*, Philip Talmadge, et al., When Counsel Screws Up: The Imposition and Calculation of Attorney Fees as Sanctions, 33 Seattle U. L. Rev. 437, 454-59 (2010). The purposes of such sanctions are deterrence, punishment, compensation, and education. *Magaňa*, 167 Wn.2d at 584. "The sanctions should ensure that the wrongdoer does not profit from the wrong." *Fisons*, 122 Wn.2d at 355.

A trial court has *broad* discretion to fashion remedies for noncompliance with discovery rules. *Rivers v. Wash. State Conference of Mason Contractors*, 145 Wn.2d 674, 684, 41 P.3d 1175 (2002); *Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance*, 131 Wn.2d 484, 494, 933 P.2d 1036 (1997). Where a court decides to impose default, dismissal of a complaint, or witness exclusion as a sanction, a court must assess, as the trial court did here, the three

(court determines that under RPC 3.3, attorney has continuing obligation to correct material false statements in letter sent to arbitrator). The Estate and its attorneys *continued* to lie about key discovery matters *throughout the course of this case*. As of the time of the trial court's order, the Estate and its attorneys had not produced that report to Nissan. CP 882 (FF 21), 884 (FF 31).

so-called *Burnet* factors. *Burnet*, 131 Wn.2d at 494; *Rivers*, 145 Wn.2d at 685; *Teter v. Deck*, 174 Wn.2d 207, 216-17, 274 P.3d 336 (2012); *Jones v. City of Seattle*, 179 Wn.2d 322, 338-40, 314 P.3d 380 (2014); *Keck v. Collins*, 184 Wn.2d 358, 368-69, 357 P.3d 1080 (2015). The trial court clearly understood this standard, CP 888 (CL 9), and made the requisite findings. CP 884-86 (FF 31-39).<sup>11</sup>

Dismissal, *Rivers*, 145 Wn.2d at 686 (citing cases), or a default judgment, *Magaňa*, 167 Wn.2d at 583-92; *Apostolis v. City of Seattle*, 101 Wn. App. 300, 3 P.3d 198 (2000); *Frisby v. Seattle University*, 13 Wn. App. 2d 1070, 2020 WL 2843499, *review denied*, 196 Wn.2d 1027 (2020); *TrueBlue, Inc. v. Marchel*, 13 Wn. App. 2d 1074, 2020 WL 2857610 (2020), may be appropriate discovery sanctions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> A trial court's findings on sanctions are reviewed for substantial evidence and the sanctions themselves are reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Magaňa*, 167 Wn.2d at 587, 590; *J.K. v. Bellevue Sch. Dist.*, 20 Wn. App. 2d 291, 302-03, 500 P.3d 138 (2021).

This Court *defers* to trial courts' sanctions decision making. *Fisons*, 122 Wn.2d at 339; *Magaňa*, 167 Wn.2d at 583 ("...since the trial court is in the best position to decide an issue, deference should normally be given to the trial court's decision."). Division I failed to honor the trial court's detailed decision, substituting its own fact-finding and sanctions decision for the trial court's.

# (2) Both the Estate and Its Attorneys Willfully Violated Court Orders, Court Rules, and Statutes

The Estate/Counsel failed to comply with the King County asbestos style order lay down discovery requirements<sup>12</sup> as to *all* defendants in the case, despite Division I's narrow focus on Nissan. Op. 33-34.

Division I does agree half-heartedly that the Estate's *attorneys* committed sanctionable discovery violations. Op. 47-

The very purpose of lay down discovery is to *avoid* discovery flaps and to compel parties to exchange basic case information early in the case.

56. But Division I downplays the extreme prejudicial effect of those violations.

Division I believes that the Estate itself did not commit sanctionable misconduct because the Estate was somehow not responsible for its lawyers' misconduct. Op. 56.<sup>13</sup> Indeed, although Marjorie verified the discovery responses, op. 6-7, and testified untruthfully in her deposition, Division I seemingly determines that she was justified in being untruthful because of her age. Op. 44. Such ageism is unjustified. Division I substituted its own fact-finding for the extensive trial court findings that the Estate *and* its attorneys committed sanctionable

Division I cites no authority for the proposition that in sanctioning a party for discovery violations, courts analyze the client's conduct apart from that of its lawyers. A court has *discretion* to levy sanctions against a client, its lawyers, or both. *See*, *e.g.*, *Camicia v. Cooley*, 197 Wn. App. 1074, 2017 WL 679988 (2017). Ultimately, clients are responsible for willful discovery violations by their counsel. By its terms, CR 37(d) warns parties and their attorneys that they are subject to sanctions *including* the dismissal of the action. CR 37(b)(2)(C). The clients' recourse for the lawyer's misconduct is an action for professional negligence/breach of fiduciary duty.

misconduct for the *pattern* of delay, half-truths, and outright deception with regard to their obligation for lay down discovery under the King County style orders; those findings were supported by substantial evidence.

#### (a) <u>The Estate/Counsel Hid Lawrence's Other</u> Alleged Asbestos Exposure

The Estate's responses to discovery requests as to Lawrence's other asbestos exposures (lay down interrogatory 13) were entirely misleading. CP 879-80 (FF 11-13, 15-16), 882-83 (FF 24-25), 884 (FF 31-32), 887 (CL 1). The Estate/Counsel deliberately failed to relate Lawrence's prior asbestos exposure, as the Estate *conceded* by not assigning error to those findings. The Estate received money from asbestos bankruptcy trusts for Lawrence's childhood take-home exposure to asbestos from his father's shipyard work caused his mesothelioma, only to claim in this case that his exposure to Datsun/Nissan products was causative. CP 878 (FF 11). The trial court correctly found these responses to be a sanctionable violation. CP 880-81 (FF 13, 15),

882-83 (FF 24-25).

Strangely, although the Estate did not assign error to the trial court's findings on this issue, Division I nevertheless addressed the findings anyway, concluding that the Estate's misrepresentations in responding to lay down interrogatory 13 concerning Lawrence's asbestos exposure "were not materially inconsistent with her claims filed herein." Op. 37. That is simply wrong. The Estate, through Marjorie, told the bankruptcy trusts that Lawrence's only asbestos exposure was his take-home exposure, making no mention of asbestos exposure from Nissan products. It then told Nissan that Lawrence had no nonoccupational exposures like the childhood take-home exposures for which it received compensation from the trusts. That was inconsistent.

### (b) The Estate's Secret Autopsy

Despite the very precise directives in both the 2011 and 2018 style orders concerning autopsies (*see* Appendix), the Estate/Counsel had an autopsy performed after Lawrence's

death, paid for with attorney Karst's credit card. The Estate/Counsel kept the autopsy secret, never divulging the photos or the autopsy report, or preserving tissue samples from the autopsy for defense examination; Lawrence's body was cremated. No independent examination of Lawrence's exposure to asbestos was possible.

#### (i) The Destruction of Lawrence's Tissue

Although the trial court found that the Estate/Counsel condoned the destruction of Lawrence's tissue samples after the secret autopsy and before the cremation of his body, CP 881 (FF 18), 882 (FF 23), CP 881(FF 18), 882 (FF 23), Division I claims that the Estate had no duty to preserve that evidence, op. 20-33, although it later agrees that the Estate violated lay down interrogatory 22 by failing to preserve tissue specimens. Op. 53.

But under § 6.3 of both King County style orders, the Estate had a preservation duty. The 2011 order, in effect when the complaint was filed, *unambiguously* directed the Estate to *preserve* tissue samples and other autopsy evidence so that a

defense pathologist could have "access to tissue samples, slides, and other matters reasonable [sic] necessary to make his/her own diagnosis and/or causation opinions." In fact, the rule directs plaintiffs to provide all reports/information from the pathologist performing the autopsy to defense counsel.<sup>14</sup>

Recognizing that the Estate/Counsel clearly violated those 2011/2018 discovery orders, Division I *sua sponte* determines that the orders are invalid. While the Estate argued that there was no duty to preserve the evidence, br. of appellants at 17-23, Division I decides, with respect to an argument that the Estate never made, that *any* court rules relating to "prelitigation conduct" are beyond the courts' power. Division I's opinion invalidates the King County asbestos style orders and our civil rules on discovery. Op. 18 ("...neither our Supreme Court nor the superior courts are authorized to promulgate court rules that impose duties on nonlitigants before a lawsuit commences."),

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> As did Nissan's December 21, 2018 letter. CP 419-20.

This Court has broad statutory (RCW 2.04.190)<sup>16</sup> and inherent authority<sup>17</sup> to make court rules for court "practice and procedure." *State v. Smith*, 84 Wn.2d 498, 501, 527 P.2d 674 (1974) (bail pending appeal); *State v. Fitzsimmons*, 94 Wn.2d 858, 620 P.2d 999 (1980) (access to counsel); *Emwright v. King County*, 96 Wn.2d 538, 637 P.2d 656 (1981) (refund of jury deposit).<sup>18</sup> This Court in *State v. Templeton*, 148 Wn.2d 193, 59

<sup>15</sup> Where a court *sua sponte* decides an argument a party never made, without notice to the adverse party like Nissan, that adverse party's due process rights are violated. *Matthews v. Westford*, 15 Wn. App. 2d 1043, 2020 WL 7212317 (2020).

The Court's statutory rulemaking authority extends broadly to "taking and obtaining evidence."

Both this Court and the superior courts have inherent authority to promulgate rules, *Emwright*, 96 Wn.2d at 543, and to sanction parties and counsel for violation of those rules. *Fisons*, 122 Wn.2d at 339-40.

Rules of practice/procedure ordinarily relate to the courts' operation, not substantive law, i.e., norms for societal conduct and punishments for the violation of them, although the distinction is not always clear. *Smith*, 84 Wn.2d at 499-501.

P.3d 632 (2002), made clear that rulemaking *extended to prelitigation actions*, i.e. police warnings to persons arrested for DUI and the right to counsel. Division I did not cite *Templeton*, a case that obviously belies its entire *sua sponte* justification for the Estate's style orders/civil rules disobedience.

Similarly, superior courts have constitutional rulemaking authority. Wash. Const. art. IV, § 24; CR 83. *See also, State ex rel. Foster-Wyman Lumber Co. v. Superior Court for King Cnty.*, 148 Wash. 1, 10, 267 Pac. 770 (1928).

Nothing in the case law, particularly after *Templeman*, suggests that the statutory or inherent rulemaking authority of this Court does not extend to prelitigation activities.<sup>19</sup> Nor could it. Virtually all discovery regulated by court rule pertains to prelitigation conduct of parties. To say otherwise would mean that litigants are free to destroy documents "prelitigation" with

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> GR 9, implementing this Court's rulemaking power, says *nothing* resembling such a limitation. Rather, rulemaking is designed to ensure "a fair and expeditious process," GR 9(a), something the Estate/Counsel prevented here.

impunity and no discovery rules could stop that.

This Court must grant review to correct Division I's presumptuous effort to define this Court's and the courts' rulemaking authority in a published opinion.

### (ii) <u>Untruthful</u> and <u>Misleading</u> <u>Interrogatory Responses</u>

The Estate failed to truthfully respond to lay down interrogatories 16, 20, 21, and 22. CP 902-03 (FF 15). For 4½ years, the Estate/Counsel *concealed* Lawrence's autopsy, not only failing to comply with the King County style orders, but CR 33 and CR 34, too. Lay down interrogatories 21 and 22 mandated that the Estate disclose the autopsy report. CP 880-81 (FF 15). Even Division I reluctantly agreed. Op. 47-55.

Marjorie signed the discovery responses, op. 6-7, and the Estate never supplemented or corrected its false and incomplete responses to the lay down interrogatories, in spite of two requests by Nissan's counsel to do so. It *knowingly* concealed the autopsy, materials from it, and documentation about it. Marjorie

also signed the autopsy authorization; its counsel knew the response was false because the Karst firm had arranged for the autopsy and paid for it with Karst's credit card.

In addition to its untruthful denial that an autopsy occurred, the Estate/Counsel failed to identify the pathologist the Estate retained who reviewed autopsy materials to which only the Estate was privy, and then diagnosed an asbestos disease. The Estate claimed it did not need to disclose that pathologist's identity under lay down interrogatory 16. That contention is baseless, as the trial court found. CP 880-81 (FF 15). Division I's attempt to parse the language of that interrogatory, op. 39, claiming that a pathologist is not an expert diagnosing Lawrence's condition is unsupportable when those interrogatories were calculated to disclose professionals who interpreted autopsy findings.

The Estate even violated lay down interrogatory 20 as to the death certificate. Contrary to Division I's assertion that no discovery violation was associated with that certificate, op. 40,

the Estate provided the misinformation for that official document to Dr. Comer, Lawrence's own physician, who erroneously signed the death certificate stating "no autopsy." Neither the Estate nor Karst informed Dr. Comer or the Washington State Bureau of Statistics that the death certificate contained false information or corrected the misinformation during the course of the litigation.

### (iii) <u>Untruthful Deposition Testimony on</u> the Secret Autopsy

The trial court based its decision, in part, on untruthful deposition answers, CP 881 (FF 16), but Division I seemed to believe that Marjorie and Doug Carroll did not lie in their depositions because they were somehow not "willfully evasive." Op. 44. Substantial evidence supported the trial court finding.

Division I even blames Nissan for not conducting the depositions differently regarding the autopsy report that it suspected existed. Op. 46.<sup>20</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> While Nissan's counsel asked questions that assumed

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