FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/25/2022
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
10/24/2022 1:37 PM

101227-6

Court of Appeals No. 82245-4-I
Supreme Court No.

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I, OF STATE OF
WASHINGTON

MARJORIE CARROLL, as Personal Representative of the
Estate of LAWRENCE W. CARROLL, Deceased, Respondent,

v.

NISSAN MOTOR CO., LTD. and
NISSAN NORTH AMERICA, INC., Petitioners,

and

THOMAS J. OWENS, Respondent,

and

AKEBONO BRAKE CORPORATION; HONEYWELL
INTERNATIONAL, INC.; and OLYMPIC BRAKE SUPPLY,
INC., Defendants.

RESPONDENT THOMAS J. OWENS'S ANSWER TO
PETITION FOR REVIEW

Jeffrey P. Downer, WSBA No. 12625

I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDING PARTY

Non-Party Attorney/Respondent is Thomas J. Owens.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Carroll v. Akebono Brake Corp., __ Wn. App. 2d __, 514 P.3d 720 (2022).

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The only issue before this Court pertaining to Mr. Owens is whether this Court should deny the Petition for Review of Nissan Motor Co., Ltd. and Nissan North America, Inc. (“Nissan”) under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (4), where:

1. Division I’s decision affirming the award of \$1,000 in sanctions against Mr. Owens does not conflict with any decision of this Court that would warrant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1); and
2. Division I’s decision, which considers the discretionary versus strict vicarious liability for sanctioned attorneys, does not involve an issue of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Owens adopts by reference his Statement of the Case in his Brief of Respondent Owens to Division I of the Court of Appeals, a copy of which is attached at Appendix 1.

Notably, Nissan's Petition for Review seeks this Court's review of the sanction against Mr. Owens only as an afterthought. Nissan's 37-page Petition fails to mention Mr. Owens at all until page 34. The petition otherwise focuses exclusively on the adequacy of the sanctions against Ms. Carroll and her pro hac vice attorneys.

V. ARGUMENT

Nissan seeks review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4). Neither applies. No precedent of this Court conflicts with Division I's decision, and this is not a matter of public interest. Nor does Nissan seek review under RAP 13.4(b)(2) or (3).

Division I did not err at all. Nothing in APR 8(b)(ii) mandates strict vicarious liability of Mr. Owens for sanctionable conduct of his pro hac vice co-counsel. Nissan

does not state or even imply the trial court abused its discretion in not awarding vicarious liability if APR 8(b)(ii) permits but does not require the sanctions it urges. Nor does Nissan seek this Court's review of that Division I's interpretation of APR 8(b)(ii) under RAP 13.4(b)(2) or (3).

A. No grounds for review support reviewing Division I's interpretation of APR 8(b)(ii).

Nissan seeks Supreme Court review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4). This Court may grant a petition for review only:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or

...

(4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Nissan's petition for review should be denied because it fails to satisfy either basis for Supreme Court review.

Furthermore, nothing in RAP 13.4(b) or in Washington law entitles Nissan to review by this Court simply because it disagrees with the Division I's decision:

[I]t is a mistake for a party seeking review to make the perceived injustice the focus of attention in the petition for review. RAP 13.4(b) says nothing in its criteria about correcting isolated instances of injustice. This is because the Supreme Court, in passing upon petitions for review, is not operating as a court of error. Rather, it is functioning as the highest policy-making judicial body of the state. ...

The Supreme Court's view in evaluating petitions is global in nature. Consequently, the primary focus of a petition for review should be on why there is a compelling need to have the issue or issues presented decided *generally*. The significance of the issues must be shown to transcend the particular application of the law in question. Each of the four alternative criteria of RAP 13.4(b) supports this view. The court accepts review sparingly, only approximately 10 percent of the time. Failure to show the court the "big picture" will likely diminish the already statistically slim prospects of review.

Wash. Appellate Prac. Deskbook § 27.11 (1998) (italics in original).

1. Division I's holding does not conflict with the precedent of this Court.

Nissan's petition for review cites *Hahn v. Boeing Co.*, 95 Wn.2d 28, 621 P.2d 1263 (1980), as supposedly conflicting with Division I's decision as a ground for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1). There is no such conflict. *Hahn* addresses the standards of a trial court's discretion for **admission** of pro hac vice attorneys. *Hahn* has no precedential value as to liability for the sanctionable **conduct** of a pro hac vice attorney; *Hahn* does not even refer to sanctions. Therefore, *Hahn* and Division I's decision do not conflict. *Hahn* is no basis for this Court to accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

Indeed, to the limited extent *Hahn* is relevant to Mr. Owens's conduct, it weighs against review of the present case. This Court rightly held in *Hahn* that local counsel (here Mr. Owens) must provide only a "reasonable assurance that local rules of practice and procedure will be followed." *Hahn*, 95 Wn.2d at 34. It is inconsistent with *Hahn* that local counsel is strictly vicariously liable when local counsel's duty to assure

good behavior is only a negligence standard. *Hahn*, if relevant here at all, undermines Nissan's argument for strict vicarious liability. This Court should deny review as there is no conflict with precedent.

2. Nissan has not met its burden to show a substantial public interest.

Under RAP 13.4(b)(4), Nissan has the burden of persuading the Court that its petition involves an issue of substantial public interest because “the issue is recurring in nature or impacts a large number of persons.” *Wash. Appellate Prac. Deskbook* at § 27.11. No reported Washington Supreme Court decision includes a detailed analysis of the “substantial public interest” criterion of RAP 13.4(b)(4), but this Court weighed what amounts to “public interest” when considering the related question of whether to decide a moot issue:

When determining the requisite degree of public interest, courts should consider (1) the public or private nature of the question presented, (2) the desirability of an authoritative determination for the future guidance of public officers, and (3) the likelihood of future recurrence of the question.

In re Mines, 146 Wn.2d 279, 285, 45 P.3d 535 (2002) (internal quotation marks omitted); *Matter of Dependency of L.C.S.*, ___ Wn.2d ___, 514 P.3d 644, 648 (2022). Where the Court has directly addressed the “substantial public interest” criterion of RAP 13.4(b)(4), it has used these principles. *State v. Watson*, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577, 122 P.3d 903 (2005). In *Watson*, the issue was whether a prosecutor’s office’s delivery of a memo to all members of the bench regarding its decision not to recommend drug offender sentencing alternative (DOSAs) sentences was an improper ex parte communication. This Court held that the Court of Appeals’ decision was reviewable under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because the ruling (1) could affect every sentencing proceeding involving a DOSA sentence, (2) created confusion and invited unnecessary litigation, and (3) could chill policy actions taken by both attorneys and judges in the future. *Id.*

Nothing of that significance exists here. The three *Watson* factors warrant denying review of this case under RAP

13.4(b)(4). First, this action involves a purely private dispute. Second, there is no need for any authoritative determination, since a trial court still has discretion to find local counsel liable for all, part, or none of the conduct of a pro hac vice attorney. Third, the issue is unlikely to recur. Several conditions must exist for this issue to arise; logically, each condition makes reoccurrence less likely.

Nissan fails to offer any argument to the contrary. Nissan is concerned only with what it believes should be the responsibilities of local counsel. This is merely dissatisfaction with Division I's decision. Mere dissatisfaction with the decision is not a basis for Supreme Court review; if it were, then every decision in the Court of Appeals would be reviewable by this Court as a matter of right.

B. Division I correctly held that APR 8(b) does not mandate strict vicarious liability.

Nissan argued to Division I that the trial court erred by limiting the sanction against Mr. Owens to \$1,000 and holding that he was severally liable only. Division I responded to this

argument by holding, “Both because the trial court was not required to hold Owens jointly and severally liable and because the trial court’s sanction was reasonably proportional to Mr. Owens’s participation in his co-counsel’s misconduct, we disagree.” *Carroll*, 514 P.3d at 754. Nissan’s Petition for Review never states why this holding was in error. Nissan implies that Division I erred in holding that APR 8(b)(ii) did not mandate strict vicarious liability.

1. APR 8(b)’s text does not mandate strict vicarious liability.

APR 8(b)(ii) provides that an attorney admitted in another state may practice “in association with an active lawyer member of the Bar, who shall be the lawyer of record therein, responsible for the conduct thereof, and present at proceedings unless excused by the court or tribunal.” Nissan would have this Court interpret the clause “responsible for the conduct thereof” to mean that local counsel is strictly liable for all sanctions against pro hac vice counsel.

Division I rejected Nissan’s interpretation and held, “[N]othing in APR 8(b)(ii) requires a trial court to hold a lawyer who is an active member of the Washington bar jointly and severally liable for the misconduct of an attorney for whom he or she has assumed responsibility.” Division I followed the plain reading of the rule. APR 8(b)(ii) does not discuss sanctions and does not discuss liability. *Compare* APR 8(b)(ii) (making no mention of sanctions), *with* CR 26(g) (“an appropriate sanction”) *and* CR 11 (“an appropriate sanction”). Therefore, APR 8(b)(ii) does not mandate strict vicarious liability for sanctions.

Even if APR 8(b)(ii) mandated strict vicarious liability, which it does not, it would not mandate vicarious liability for local counsel when a pro hac vice attorney engages in discovery misconduct. Nissan urges essentially a sweeping reading of APR 8(b)(ii) that would require that a Washington lawyer’s “responsibility” applies to all conduct of pro hac vice counsel, even where, as here, local counsel was unaware of any

misconduct. APR 8(b)(ii). However, this reading misinterprets the rule.

In *Dorsey v. King County*, 51 Wn. App. 664, 670-71, 754 P.2d 1255 (1988), Division I held that APR 8(b)'s indication that Washington counsel is "responsible for the conduct thereof" refers to the "conduct of the trial of an action or proceeding." It follows that misconduct in discovery, as was found here, is not misconduct for which a local counsel would be responsible as it did not occur in a trial or proceeding. Local counsel's role is to provide "reasonable assurance" that the court's rules are followed in court, not to stand as a guarantor for pro hac vice counsel's conduct, or audit discovery to ensure that pro hac vice counsel had not omitted evidence that local counsel was unaware existed. It is plain that APR 8(b)(ii) does not provide local counsel as an insurer against a pro hac vice attorney's misconduct in discovery. Nissan's reading of APR 8(b)(ii) is wrong and inconsistent with precedent.

2. The strict liability that Nissan urges would be inconsistent with the purpose of sanctions.

To find Mr. Owens liable based on strict vicarious liability would be inconsistent with the purpose of sanctions. The purpose of sanctions is “to deter, to punish, to compensate and to educate.” *Wash. State Physicians Ins. Exch. & Ass’n v. Fisons Corp.*, 122 Wn.2d 299, 356, 858 P.2d 1054 (1993). A trial court has broad discretion to create appropriate remedies absent mandatory authority. *Highland Sch. Dist. No. 203 v. Racy*, 149 Wn. App. 307, 316, 202 P.3d 1024 (2009). This broad authority is vested with the trial court, as opposed to appellate courts, because trial courts are better positioned to analyze the circumstances of the alleged violation. *Fisons*, 122 Wn.2d at 339. To overbear on this authority could chill the trial court’s willingness to impose sanctions, which should be avoided. *See id.*

By Nissan’s interpretation, APR 8(b)(ii) would force the trial court to punish local counsel no matter their diligence, and

even when the local counsel has no knowledge of pro hac vice counsel's errors. Sanctions in these circumstances would not educate, rightly punish, or deter a diligent local counsel – it would instead be grossly unfair. And if, as Nissan alleges, pro hac vice acted intentionally, the unfairness would be all the more pronounced.

Further, strict vicarious liability could chill a trial court's willingness to award sanctions in a pro hac vice situation. It is easy to see how a trial court would be reluctant to sanction a pro hac vice attorney's misconduct when the court knows that a local attorney, however diligent, will be jointly responsible for the tab.

Undermining the broad discretion of trial courts by imposing strict vicarious liability on local counsel will fundamentally change sanctions, run contrary to their purpose, and result in unfair and unintended consequences.

VI. CONCLUSION

Nissan has no plausible basis for Supreme Court review of the sanctions order against Mr. Owens under either RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (4). Division I correctly interpreted APR 8(b)(ii)'s plain language, and Nissan offers zero authority to the contrary. This case presents none of the unusual or extraordinary circumstances that must be present for Supreme Court review. The Court should deny review.